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Introduction





This book is not meant to be a biography of Terrence Malick. From the very first moment when we started working on this project, we understood that Malick’s decision not to speak about his filmmaking is deeply rooted in his conviction that films should speak for themselves, and live beyond the single event of a screening. We could not but respect this decision. Rather than Malick’s voice, the core of this book comes from the words of his closest collaborators and friends – cinematographers, set designers, costumers, cameramen, directors, producers, intellectuals, and actors – all of which form a fascinating, kaleidoscopic vision of American film in general and Malick’s work in particular.


Through their voices, Malick’s filmmaking loses the dimension of mystery often attributed to it, that it is the fruit of a reclusive man, distanced from his contemporaries. Instead, the work comes into focus as the product of a tight network of exchanges among collaborators who share a vision of film – and of life itself. This mirrors Malick’s artistic growth: there is a continuous development throughout his filmmaking, culminating in the latest films that Doug Trumbull – director, producer and pioneer of visual effects – defines as ‘Hypercinema’, a kind of expanded cinema where the film does not just fade out on the screen, but continues to generate new ideas in the audience.


This book is the fruit of a journey begun years ago when a group of friends started to think about making a documentary on Terrence Malick. We four friends, Luciano Barcaroli, Carlo Hintermann, Gerardo Panichi and Daniele Villa, were working together at the historic Italian publishing house Ubulibri under the guidance of the late Franco Quadri, a great friend, mentor and intellectual. We wanted to make our first documentary. After having edited books on Otar Ioseliani, David Lynch and Takeshi Kitano, we chose Terrence Malick as our subject since his films were a kind of prism through which we could view American cinema.


The next step was breaking through Malick’s diffidence for such a project. We met in Milan in 2001 at a screening of the restored copy of Badlands organized by our friend Enrico Ghezzi during the Milanesiana event. From that moment, our friendship has deepened year after year. In 2002, the film Rosy-Fingered Dawn: A Film on Terrence Malick, directed by Luciano Barcaroli, Carlo Hintermann, Gerardo Panichi and Daniele Villa, was presented at the Venice Film Festival. Then our work on this book began.


During this journey, we have had the occasion to meet and exchange ideas with some of the most interesting personalities in cinema, and as a result we have grown. For this, we are most grateful.


We also had the pleasure of collaborating with Terrence Malick artistically, producing the Italian unit of The Tree of Life. This experience strengthened our friendship with some of Malick’s long-time collaborators and allowed us to observe, up close, the making of his following film, To the Wonder, to lend a hand when needed and to receive help in turn with our own projects.


At this point in our journey, it is difficult to observe Terrence Malick’s work from a distance. This sensation of being drawn into his world is exactly what a more sensitive spectator feels when watching each of his films. We start to reassess our own lives and ask ourselves questions that would otherwise lie dormant.


Terrence Malick’s films enable the audience to recognize his courage and humility as he follows his dream – a process which, in turn, enables him to open himself up to the influences and input of others.


As we wait for his next films to astound us, we’re grateful to this man who is much more than just a filmmaker.


We conclude this introduction with the words of Jack Fisk, the production designer of all Malick’s films, who requested they be used as a preface to his contribution.




I would like to preface my answers by saying that it is uncomfortable for me to talk about Terry’s work. The thoughts here are my own and may not reflect Terry’s ideas. I wish more people could experience his working process and see his films come to life – I feel privileged and I am thankful.




















Formation





Born in 1943 in Ottawa, Illinois, Terrence Malick spent his childhood in Oklahoma and Texas. He attended St. Stephen’s Episcopal School in Austin, and in 1961 he began a philosophy course at Harvard University. In his first years at Harvard Terrence Malick met Jacob Brackman, with whom he lived at Adams House. Jacob Brackman went on to act as executive producer and second unit director on Malick’s second feature film, Days of Heaven.


JACOB BRACKMAN


I first met Terrence Malick when I was eighteen years old, we were freshmen taking a course with Paul Tillich1 called ‘The Self-Interpretation of Man in Western Thought’. Each of us became friends with Paul Tillich’s assistant, Paul Lee, who was a student of the Harvard Divinity School.2 It wasn’t until the following year, what we call the sophomore year, that we all got together. We both wound up at Adams House3 at Harvard and saw each other in the dining hall and in the library. I mostly saw Terry in the library since he was always there; he was trying to catch up on things that he felt that everyone at Harvard had read but he had not, including Winnie the Pooh. I remember we met after we had each seen the Alain Resnais film Last Year at Marienbad.4 We both had been captivated by the match game that the protagonists play in the film. There are one, three, five, seven matches in rows and the person who is left with the last match loses. So we were kind of hustling each other at this game, pretending we didn’t know how to do it, but we both knew how to do it. I would say that was the beginning of our friendship; we were nineteen then.


Although I started out thinking I would major in Philosophy – which is what Terry did – I ended up in American History and Literature. The atmosphere in Harvard was about to undergo a big change. John Kennedy was the President but before he was assassinated and before there was anything like hippies, there was the tail end of the previous culture. You could say there was a Beatnik element, a kind of rebellious thing, James Dean rebelliousness. Several years later people were going to the South for civil rights, they were marching against the bomb, but that was just a new element, the main atmosphere in that period was very much still the 1950s – ‘Eisenhower America’. Among the professors, another person we were both very close to was a philosophy professor, Stanley Cavell. Stanley was never actually a teacher of mine, he was just a friend, but he was Terry’s teacher and ultimately Terry’s tutor and the supervisor of his Honours thesis. At that time he was between marriages and so was living in Adams House and he had a daughter who would come and visit him. He was open to friendships with undergraduates though that all ended for him in the 1968 revolutions. Terry and I didn’t spend time with him together, just separately – there was probably a little rivalry for his affection. He is somebody who has since written a number of books about movies.


Stanley and I were interested in movies and we would talk about them – this was before either of us had any professional interest in them, although I reviewed movies for the college paper, the Harvard Crimson, and some of the things that I said in my reviews were influenced by conversations I had had with Stanley. This was before he had ever published anything and he was still struggling to work out what he felt he could write. Several years later he started to write and has written prolifically ever since. But even before Stanley started publishing his key studies, Terry thought that he was one of the significant figures in contemporary American philosophy. There was a whole circle of people around him who were mostly graduate students in philosophy and Terry became part of that circle. There was another Harvard professor who made a very strong impact on me, William Alfred5 who was a playwright and taught playwriting, but the course included a whole lot of movies. He was very close to Robert Lowell,6 and he wrote a play called Hogan’s Goat7 that Faye Dunaway starred in. The conversations with Stanley Cavell about movies and the impact of William Alfred’s teaching were two elements that made me think about cinema. As an undergraduate, Terry did not show interest in cinema as a profession. He was involved in theatre in the sense that he played Malvolio in Twelfth Night. But I don’t recall theatrical activity or any particular bent towards movies. I would say he was possibly more interested in writing.




 





In 1965 Terrence Malick was awarded a degree in philosophy with summa cum laude and Phi Beta Kappa honours,8 after having spent one year in Germany. He then won a Rhodes Scholarship9 to Oxford University, where he worked, under the supervision of Professor Gilbert Ryle, on his PhD thesis on the concept of the world in Kierkegaard, Heidegger and Wittgenstein. After leaving Oxford, Malick taught philosophy at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in Cambridge, standing in for Professor Hubert Dreyfus, who was on leave for one year. The course was mainly on Heidegger – Professor Dreyfus being one of the main exponents of Heidegger’s thought in America.10 This teaching stint concluded with the English translation of Heidegger’s Vom Wesen des Grundes – The Essence of Reason – published in 1969 for the Northwestern University Press in a bilingual edition. The spell teaching kept Malick and Jacob Brackman apart for some years. However, the two met again when they both started working on The New Yorker magazine, where they also met one of the most important editors of the time, William Shawn.


JACOB BRACKMAN


I wouldn’t exactly say that Terrence Malick was starting a career as a journalist – but even while he was still at Oxford, he was a stringer for Newsweek, so he was kind of floundering around at that point trying to figure out what to do. He and I were on The New Yorker magazine together, we wrote a piece together when Martin Luther King was killed, and another one when Robert Kennedy was killed, which wasn’t published. This was all around 1968, and in that period he was working on a major piece of journalism regarding Che Guevara and Régis Debray.11 He interviewed Régis Debray at length in Bolivia. He did an enormous amount of work on this project. But for one reason or another, it never came to fruition. This article on Guevara was a big undertaking for someone who didn’t have that much experience as a journalist – extremely ambitious. I think Terry didn’t want to undertake such a complex job again without completing it. Anyway the relationship with the editor of The New Yorker, William Shawn,12 was very important for both of us. Mr Shawn was very sensitive, shy, and extremely polite and I think that his temperament influenced Terry a lot; in my opinion, it kind of smoothed Terry’s own temperament, which, at the time, was a kind of ‘hail fellow well met’ from Texas. Anyway, at this point in his life Terry was thinking about what he could do with himself: he was not happy with the idea of the academic life; he was thinking about being a writer, but I think he found the loneliness that writing demanded a little bit frustrating as opposed to movies. He would use the analogy: ‘In movies you set everything up and then there are so many people around you doing their job, that it all just sort of carries you downstream, all you do is just put your raft in the river and then you just go downstream, day after day what you have to do is spend your time rafting. It’s all there in front of you, as opposed to the blank sheet of paper that a writer faces.’




 





Along with Jacob Brackman, who in the late 1960s wrote critical film reviews for The New Yorker, Terrence Malick began to be interested in movies. At the same time, the American Film Institute established a school where film direction was taught  both from a practical and theoretical point of view. The school’s director was George Stevens, Junior, the son of the filmmaker George Stevens. The school was not structured around a university degree: it was mainly focused on forming new directors who already had a solid university foundation. Terrence Malick, Paul Schrader and, some years later, David Lynch were among its alumni.


GEORGE STEVENS, JR


I had come to work for the Kennedy administration, heading the film division of the USIS (the United States Information Agency) at the time that the National Endowment for the Arts was created. Nobody knew quite what to do about film, so I proposed the American Film Institute, the AFI, and was asked to be its founder. There were many aspects to the AFI: in Washington we had the film preservation programmes, education programmes, a magazine called American Film, while the conservatory for filmmakers was based in Los Angeles. There were film training programmes in several universities at the time – at the universities of California, Los Angeles, New York, Southern California and Columbia – and we saw ours as not being in competition with them, but more of a bridge between the learning of filmmaking and the practice of filmmaking. We started with the idea of having what we called a ‘tutorial approach’ where great filmmakers would come and share their knowledge with the students, or ‘fellows’ as we called them. Seminars were held by filmmakers like Harold Lloyd, King Vidor, George Stevens, William Wyler, Billy Wilder, Federico Fellini, and Ingmar Bergman. It was a wonderful atmosphere. In one important way the AFI was different from the other universities: the people who came to AFI had mostly completed their college education and were simply concentrating on learning filmmaking at our conservatory, whereas the people at UCLA or USC were doing their undergraduate work or graduate studies in many different subjects.


Another important thing is that in selecting people for the AFI, we were less interested if they knew how to focus a camera or operate a moviola; we were interested in what kind of people they were, what they would bring to the film medium once they learnt how to do it and I think that Terrence Malick, David Lynch and Paul Schrader are all good examples of choosing people who really had some artistic and intellectual sensibility that would make them interesting filmmakers, rather than film mechanics.


JACOB BRACKMAN


It was I who ‘brought’ Terry to the AFI. I had written a long piece in The New Yorker about The Graduate,13 and as a result of that I had been engaged by George Stevens, Jr as a consultant in about 1968–69. My job was to help organize and admit the first class of the Center for Advanced Film Studies. They had inherited a greystone mansion in Beverly Hills. First of all I urged Terry to make a film and apply – he was at this point in Cambridge, teaching at MIT – which he did. I was on the Admissions Committee for that first year of fellows; my speciality was writing about movies, rather than making movies. Paul Schrader was selected for the same class and also the cinematographer Caleb Deschanel14 and the screenwriter Thomas Rickman.15 There were ten people in that first class who went on to careers in the movie business. When we were discussing the selection, I remember telling George Stevens: ‘Terry Malick is the most likely to succeed of anybody I have ever met.’ And, at the end, George and Terry became lifelong friends.


GEORGE STEVENS, JR


I remember having a conversation with Terry on the terrace of our headquarters – it was the late ’60s and everybody was expressing certain kinds of attitudes and I remember that Terry was the only one out of all the applicants who came for the interview wearing a coat and tie. He was clearly an extremely interesting person, and he was such a well-rounded individual, in terms of his interests and knowledge. He loved European cinema, but he was not unique in that way – it was the era of Truffaut, Antonioni, Fellini, Bergman – everyone had a knowledge of European cinema. An important point of reference for us was the Cinémathèque Française, and the work of its director, Henri Langlois. I had met Langlois at Cannes before the AFI was started and he was always railing at me about the importance of preserving American films so I would say that he influenced me and made me more aware of the problem we had in the US in terms of the absence of a programme for preserving films. The importance of the history of American cinema is something that we tried to convey to our students.




 





An important encounter for Terrence Malick in this period is that with Stevan Larner, who taught at the AFI. Larner became the third director of photography on Badlands, after Brian Probyn and Tak Fujimoto had left.


STEVAN LARNER


I first met Terry Malick at the American Film Institute in 1970– 71. Terry had done some very interesting things in his life at that point, and he spoke beautiful French and Spanish. As a student, he was asking himself important questions, because the cinematography will tell the story better if you ask yourself why you are doing it in this way; otherwise it’s liable to be pretentious, or the technique will get in the way of what you’re trying to say. The audience will be too aware of the camera if it makes moves that aren’t justified, or if the lighting doesn’t have the proper quality, which is hard to define by just sitting here talking about it. It’s something you have to previsualize; you have to decide what something should look like, what emotion you want the lighting to convey to the spectator. Cinematography is really like the pages in a novel, except it’s much faster, the image has to really grab you, it really has to participate in the whole thing, and Terry understood this.


GEORGE STEVENS, JR


Terry had a very prodigious imagination – he was full of ideas – he knew his own mind. He wasn’t always seeking approval or confirmation, he knew what he wanted to do and did it. I think that he had a good relationship with our teachers, like Tony Vellani,16 who was a close friend of mine from Bologna and had worked in the US and had worked with my father, George Stevens. He was highly regarded in terms of a real knowledge of the creative aspect of storytelling and filmmaking. What was really important at that time was just the opportunity to be there, working on films and having people like Tony to discuss your scripts. The student also had an opportunity to see films every day and discuss them. The seminars were another important moment of confrontation. I’m sure, for example, that Terry met my father. He did a seminar at the AFI about Gunga Din17 and they had conversations. I don’t know which filmmakers influenced Terry, but I know that the seminars helped all the fellows in building a personal approach to filmmaking. I remember when Terry was shooting his student film Lanton Mills, he had Harry Dean Stanton and some other actors whom he got interested in working with him. It was a Western, and it was a very, very good student film. I think that any filmmaker who wants to put his own stamp on his work finds a way to maintain control over his projects and Terry found his own way. With every film that he has made, he has never ended up in a position of a studio changing his film. He has been very successful in finding the means of controlling his work, which makes it possible for each of his films to be his own personal statement.


MIKE MEDAVOY


In the late ’60s Monte Hellman was directing a movie, or getting prepared to direct a movie called Two-Lane Blacktop,18 and he was looking for a writer. I went to Monte Hellman’s office at CBS and there was Terrence Malick’s proposal on how to do this film. I read it and thought what a wonderful approach it had, so I took his name down and then called him up on the phone and asked him if he had an agent. He was going to the American Film Institute, and he said no. He went around town and did his homework to find out who I was and what I was doing. At the time I represented George Lucas, Spielberg, Coppola, Robert Aldrich, Hal Ashby and a lot of actors like Donald Sutherland, Jane Fonda, and Gene Wilder. Also I represented a number of other people’s interests in America, like Antonioni – I was his friend, and Truffaut’s friend as well. So Terrence Malick decided to join in and I became his agent. Before he made Badlands, I worked with him looking for writing jobs. He wrote a film called Deadhead Miles,19 Pocket Money,20 the rewrite on Dirty Harry,21 and other things like that.


JACOB BRACKMAN


Terry wrote a draft of Great Balls of Fire,22 the Jerry Lee Lewis picture – Mike Medavoy got him that job – but I think hardly anything that Terry wrote was used; it was considered too dark. At that point, Terry and I were helping each other on whatever we were doing. I wrote The King of Marvin Gardens23 which Bob Rafelson directed. It went to the New York Film Festival the year before Badlands.




 





At this point in his career, Malick encountered Irvin Kershner. Kershner, a teacher at the University of Southern California, had a very unconventional approach to filmmaking.


IRVIN KERSHNER


I never tried to find a style or anything, I let the script speak to me because every script speaks differently – some speak loudly, some speak softly and you have to listen to what is being said, not what actors say but the movement of the film, what the film is saying, and that becomes the style. All you are doing, really, is exploring the possibilities within you. I don’t think you can get away from yourself. This is something that I said to Terry when we first met. I remember he had just come to Los Angeles and he didn’t have a place to live. We talked about his great-grandfather who was a kind of Armenian brigand, a revolutionary; we became friendly and saw each other a lot. He was very philosophical, very poetic, well-read – I loved it. The one thing I couldn’t discuss with him was Heidegger! I never made sense of Heidegger and I’m not the only one. One day I was offered a script by Warner Bros called Dirty Harry. It was about a rogue cop, who takes the law into his own hands to shoot and kill little bad guys, guys who were trying to get some money out of a till of some little shop or little market or a gas station. The script was written by the husband-and-wife team Harry Julian and Rita Fink.24 Warners said it needed a rewrite, so I was hired as the director and I went to Terry and we started talking about it. The thing that bothered me about Dirty Harry was that he was outside the law, which is okay as a dramatic device, but it better be for some good reason – to go out and kill little schmucks who were just doing the till wasn’t good enough. Terry agreed – so I said: ‘Why don’t we have a rogue cop go after the big boys in the drug industry and start to kill them, don’t kill the guys on the street! If you are going to kill somebody, kill that bastard who is way at the top!’ It was a social statement, in a way. So Terry began to play with the script and we would meet and while that was being done the studio was moving ahead, they wanted me to find locations. Already I had in my mind what we were going to shoot and so we chose San Francisco and went there. We picked the rooftops because the protagonist was going to have a gun that he built to shoot from a long distance; and we changed Harry from a rogue cop to someone who wanted to be a cop very badly, who wanted to do some good, but couldn’t get in, so he set himself the job of doing what the cops should be doing: getting the bad guys, the really bad guys at the top. The script developed in this direction. It was a very interesting script with a lot of unusual elements. So we started to build the sets in San Francisco, I had the rooftops picked out and meanwhile the studios said to me: ‘Who is going to be the star?’ – that was the big thing – ‘This is Warner Bros. We do important pictures,’ and my first thought was: ‘What about Marlon Brando?’ He was slender at that point and, of course, one of the greatest actors in the world, so they authorized me to go to Brando and make a deal. So I went and met him. He was lying in bed, dressed, opening a refrigerator by the side of his bed and taking out a can of something and drinking it. His Saint Bernard dog was walking in and out, and jumping round the bed. He wanted me to tell him the story, so I did and he said: ‘Well, I’ll tell you what I’ll do, I’ll take it and read it and also give it to my adviser.’ Well, I found out that his adviser was his make-up man or someone on his crew – ‘I’ll let you know.’ I spent a couple of hours with him, very cordial. I felt very honoured. I left, a week went by and because Marlon Brando didn’t call, I got a message from the Studio: ‘We want to do a picture with Steve McQueen, this project is perfect for him – an angry Steve McQueen – we want you to go and contact him.’ Now, I happened to know Steve McQueen, I’d gone to his house in Palm Springs and I once had an office in his building, so my agent found him in Switzerland. Before I contacted him, I asked Warners: ‘What about Brando?’ ‘He’s not going to do it,’ they said, ‘talk to McQueen’, so I called him. I said, ‘I’m sending you a script,’ he asked me: ‘What’s it about?’ and I replied, ‘It’s about a rogue guy who wants to be a cop, I wrote it with a young talent, Terrence Malick,’ and he finished the conversation: ‘Are you going to direct it? Okay, send it!’ The script was shipped to him. I talked with Terry about this crazy position: you never talk to two stars at once, so it went to Brando and it went to Steve McQueen. I was picking up a crew, getting a cameraman, flying back and forth to San Francisco, which took about another week. Then I came in on a Monday morning and I got a call from Brando who said: ‘Okay, kid, I’ll do the film! I like the script,’ so I go, ‘Great! I’m going to do a film with Brando!’ I was really excited and a little scared. I told Terry and he said, ‘Yeah, Brando will be incredibly good!’ At that point Terry didn’t think of himself as a director, he was interested in the words on the page. So I ran to the office and here were the Big Wheels at Warners and I said, ‘I just heard from Brando! He wants to do it!’ And they replied, ‘Uhm … yeah … well, we aren’t that excited about Brando … the young people don’t really care about him. We are going to have to pass.’ I crawled back to my office and the phone rang and it was Switzerland: ‘Hey, I read the Terrence Malick script and I love it’ – it’s Steve McQueen – and I replied, ‘Okay, Steve I’ll go to the office and tell them; I’m sure it’s a done deal.’ Second time that morning I ran over to the office, walked in like an idiot, saying to the president of the company, ‘I just got a call from Switzerland, Steve McQueen is on, he wants to do it!’ and he said, ‘Well, we got a problem. Over the weekend I had a barbecue in Clint Eastwood’s house, I told him about the script, but I told him about the original script, the original idea, and he said it was great. I also told him that there is another script now and he said he would read both and we made a deal with him!’ I was surprised: ‘Made a deal with Clint Eastwood for that part? For the part that I had written with Terrence Malick?’ He wasn’t right for that part, the role was right for an angry Brando, or Steve McQueen, but it wasn’t right for a Clint Eastwood who had a totally different image, so they said, ‘We are waiting to see what he wants to do.’ I said, ‘Well, you had better call my agent who handles Steve McQueen and Brando.’ They promised Steve McQueen another picture at an accelerated rate, and made a deal. Clint Eastwood read the two scripts and preferred the old one; the character was more heroic for him. ‘More heroic? Killing little schmuckies?’ The sets came down: the locations were gone, and I was gone too, because I said to myself, ‘Wrong casting – you don’t want to do it.’ I had worked so hard on that with Terry and suddenly having to shoot that old script? No, it wasn’t for me. And so I was off the picture after working on it for over a year, working with Terry, who got paid something and I got paid some little money and the picture was made and it was a big hit. But it was a different kind of picture and Clint Eastwood hit the big audience. That was the story.




 





After the encounter with Irvin Kershner, Malick’s most import ant meetings in this period of his career were with the film director Arthur Penn, and Jack Fisk, a young art director at the beginning of his career in films, who became one of Malick’s regular collaborators.


ARTHUR PENN


I knew Malick before he was making films: he was really a philosopher-journalist. We met when he had seen Bonnie and Clyde.25 We had many jokes about that film; my assistant was a woman named Jill Jakes and they got married. So, I knew Terry during all that period, and he said, ‘You remember that case that took place up in the Dakotas, where these two young people went on a killing spree?’ I did remember the case, so we talked about it, and he started to think about his first film, Badlands.


JACK FISK


I studied fine arts at Cooper Union in New York. I wanted to be a painter. I saw a show by Robert Rosenquist; he painted billboard-size paintings, about 80 feet high. So I went to Los Angeles to paint billboards, and when I got there all the scenic artists in the studios were painting billboards because there were no films being made. Then I got a job on a non-union film, Angels as Hard as They Come26 – Jonathan Demme was the producer and writer – and got hooked. At that time I had friends who were going to the American Film Institute and one of them told me that Terry was making a film about the ’50s. I thought that would be great, so I started researching the ’50s. I hadn’t met Terry yet, but he had heard that I was researching his film, and wanted to work on it. So we met and got along instantly. He’s so trusting, he just said, ‘You wanna work on it?’ And I did.




 





During this period, Malick met the independent producer Edward Pressman, who had established an independent production company together with Paul Williams who at the time was working with Jacob Brackman, through whom Pressman came to know about the Badlands project and decided to produce it.


EDWARD PRESSMAN


I think I decided to study philosophy through a process of elimination. It seemed to me the most encompassing subject to my artistic interests, my academic interests. The most encompassing and the least limiting. And I think film – again by a process of elimination – seemed the most encompassing arena of bringing in the academic interest I had. I was also brought up in a business family: my parents were in the toy business – my brother still is – and I felt that film was the least limiting of professions. Growing up in NYC I loved films; my uncle owned two movie theatres up in Washington Heights, and I used to sell popcorn every weekend and see four movies a day. At the very beginning, film as a career seemed so remote and impossible, but when I was at Stanford I met a young student there, his father was a director and we talked about making films endlessly. We didn’t do anything, but that started me thinking. When I went to England to graduate school I met Paul Williams.27 He was a director and he gave me the confidence to get seriously involved in film. It was through the partnership that we created, Pressman-Williams, that I started to look at film as a real possibility, a life’s work. I grew up very much influenced by the French New Wave, it was a very politically active period and we all thought that film could change the world. It had a real significance that was not simply entertainment. I got into films in that environment and I think that that kind of auteur approach to filmmaking has always been the biggest influence on what I was doing then, and probably still is.


JACOB BRACKMAN


At that time I was working on a project with Paul Williams and telling him all the time about Terry, so he and Ed Pressman were very aware that Terry was putting together Badlands. I introduced Terry to Pressman and they started to think about a possible production strategy. When Ed Pressman and Paul Williams became partners and made their first couple of pictures together, you would never have imagined that Ed would have gone on to a thirty-five-year-long career and that Paul would disappear, but that’s what happened. The people we are talking about are fringe characters – as opposed to say Warren Beatty or people who were kind of born into Hollywood – characters who just floated in the movie business from left field.


MIKE MEDAVOY


It was an interesting period because the filmmakers of that time were very conscious of what was going on in Europe where lots of changes were happening. So it was a combination of looking at the filmmakers of the 1940s and the filmmakers from Europe and putting that together as an American Experience. Television had not really entered the picture as much; it wasn’t really until the mid-1970s that television directors started to take a hold. It was a very creative generation because the Vietnam War had started; there was lots of thinking. The music world had changed – the Beatles had come in and the Rolling Stones; there were influences from French and Italian filmmakers and British filmmakers like Karel Reisz, Tony Richardson, Lindsay Anderson. There was a ferment of ideas and American filmmakers were really taking all that in, taking it to the next step, as they saw it. And all of us had contact with each other – Spielberg, John Milius, Terry, Irvin Kershner had all worked on projects together. Everybody had contact with everybody else.




 





On the rare occasions when Malick spoke publicly,28 he always underlined how much Irvin Kershner was a mentor to him. Kershner represents a very precise way of approaching filmmaking: concern for character, realistic settings, awareness of social content. Kershner also acted as a liaison between Terrence Malick and cinematographer Haskell Wexler, who suggested Tak Fujimoto as the DoP for Badlands, as well as Nestor Almendros for Days of Heaven.


IRVIN KERSHNER


Haskell Wexler had a business in Chicago – he was doing commercials and documentaries; he had a little studio. I was doing Confidential File29 and he had come to LA for some reason and saw one of the shows on a Sunday night. I was doing photography like no one else was doing on television; I was doing it superreal like it was a documentary but they were re-enactments, black-and-white re-enactments, and he was so impressed that he searched me out, and said, ‘Jesus! How do you do these things?’ and I just said, ‘I have my Bolex camera, I have my lights, I have an actor who assists me and I shoot.’ And he said, ‘Can I take some of these films back to Chicago with me? I want to show them to my collaborators.’ So I gave him a batch of them; most of them were six to ten minutes. When he came back to visit me he said, ‘I would like to do a feature, eventually, and I want you to shoot it for me’ – he wanted me to be his cameraman, which is what I wanted to be in the beginning! I was forced to be a director, in a way, because of the union. I had no relationship with anybody in the union and to be a director of photography I would have to start from the beginning, carrying cans and other things. But I was teaching at the University of Southern California, I knew about emotion, so I decided to be a director. Haskell became my friend so, when I started setting up Stakeout on Dope Street,30 I went to Haskell, ‘Why don’t you shoot the film?’ and he said, ‘Jesus! But I’m not in the union,’ I replied, ‘It’s a non-union picture,’ and he goes, ‘Okay. But I’m trying to get into the union, and I’m having a lot of problems, so I have the lawyers on to it.’ Finally he said he would do it, but wouldn’t put his name on the picture: it’s his two children’s first names. He did it and he had to hide when the union came onto the set to check us out. I told them I was doing a documentary, because all we had was a camera, a tripod and a couple of lights. He shot it and then when I went to do The Hoodlum Priest,31 I asked him if he would do it, and he was now in the union, so it was more simple. He did a great job in black and white, and we did it in the middle of summer in St. Louis, Missouri. It was horrible, it was so hot, we didn’t have stunt people, so we used the local police department. We did the picture and Haskell held his own camera, it was an Éclair, and I held the battery operating the focus. He did a beautiful job. Then I was going to do a big film with Warners – with Richard Burton and Liz Taylor. I was working on the script with this wonderful writer, Edward Albee.32 At one point I talked to Haskell and said, ‘Haskell, this film is so raw, why don’t we do it widescreen, black and white?’ It had never been done before, and he replied with enthusiasm, ‘Yeah, I love black and white, most cameramen couldn’t handle it; colour is much easier.’ So we did some screen tests with the actors for Warners and Jack Warner looked at it and said, ‘The casting is okay, but the look is absolutely great! I want this picture in black and white, widescreen!’ Then I got locked out of the box because Richard Burton had promised his next picture to Mike Nichols, who was a friend, so I said to Jack Warner, ‘Go ahead, do it with Mike! I don’t care.’ I had been working on the script with Albee, and that was a great experience, but I didn’t realize they were going to take Haskell away from my other picture, A Fine Madness,33 which was shot at the same time and produced by Warners. I had bad problems with the new director of photography because I had developed the black-and-white approach with Haskell. Anyway Who’s Afraid of Virginia Woolf?34 won five Oscars, including the one for best cinematography. The black-and-white widescreen was absolutely great and I’m happy that Haskell got the award. The new director of photography never gave me the look I wanted for A Fine Madness, but that’s the world of the studios, they control everything. I didn’t have the power to say, ‘No, I want Haskell!’


When Malick was referring to me as a mentor I think he was just being kind. We talked a lot, I tried to be very open, and he is a good listener; that is one of his great powers: he listens and processes everything, he doesn’t throw anything away. He processes what he feels, what he sees, what he hears. To me a sign of intelligence is the ability to relate one thing to another, and he can do it – it’s infinite. So, I think that what he means by calling me ‘a mentor’ is that I was one of the first ones who took the time to really talk to him, especially about film. And I only knew a little more than him at the time, but I was steeped in the documentary tradition, how to approach reality. I hate naturalistic art, but I also hate pure abstraction. I’m also happy that later he worked with Haskell Wexler, because they have a similarly brave approach to filmmaking. I also think Terry had taken into consideration our previous experience before he started to make Badlands.




 





The new movement of filmmakers, mostly formed at the American Film Institute, at the University of Southern California, or at New York University – Terrence Malick, George Lucas and Martin Scorsese – emerged together with a new generation of actors. Dianne Crittenden, casting director of Badlands, witnessed a big change: the choice of actors started to be oriented towards more authentic faces.


DIANNE CRITTENDEN


Before I cast Badlands I worked for Howard Zieff. At that time, in the early 1970s, he was the top commercials director in the US. His way of working was not to hire models, or actors, for commercials but to get real people, and so that was the way I learned how to cast: to get people who looked like they belonged in the role, not like Doris Day with make-up on. When I moved from New York to California that was the beginning of a new way of thinking about casting, and about acting. Everybody was interested in trying to find those new faces, those new people. When Badlands and Days of Heaven were made, the way films were made was changing – you had Francis Coppola and Bob Rafelson, and people like that; films were no longer the nice, shiny, happy ones like Pillow Talk35; it wasn’t Rock Hudson and Doris Day. I think probably it had a lot to do with European cinema, because after World War II people were looking for movies that had something to say, that had some depth and some meaning, so the foreign films, like those by Ingmar Bergman, were felt to be deeper, and I think that Terry was affected by that, certainly I was affected by that. So, as well as learning from Howard Zieff, I also learned from Ashes and Diamonds36 and The Seventh Seal,37 and those movies that were made in Europe after the war. So, this changed the way things were done: if you were looking for somebody who was a street urchin, you were not going to go out and get a Shirley Temple and make her up to become a dirty-faced urchin; you wanted a certain authenticity and that’s something Terrence Malick has always been after, it’s what certainly appealed to me about working with him, as it certainly was a great challenge.


EDWARD PRESSMAN


When we were starting, Shirley Clark and John Cassavetes were leading an independent movement which was very, very sparse and didn’t really exist in any significant way. Our company was really one of the only companies doing independent films, except for a company called BBS which was Bert Schneider, Bob Rafelson and Steve Blauner. They did Easy Rider,38 Five Easy Pieces,39 Drive, He Said40 – a bunch of very interesting films. They were the other entity that had a similar sensibility to us. But at that time there was no institutional way of financing independent films: there were just the studios. There were six studios that controlled the distribution outlets and there were no other avenues. So, when we were doing the De Palma41 movies – Sisters and Phantom of the Paradise – and Badlands, they were a kind of an anomaly. They were not part of an independent movement as such, they were sort of freaks out in the wilderness.


DIANNE CRITTENDEN


Nowadays all I have to do is send emails to people to say I’m looking for actors to play a certain role and I get millions of ideas back from people all over the world who may want to play the part. In those days we had nothing like that, you really had to go from people that either had been seen in other films, in which case you were going to wind up with people from the ilk of films that were made in those times, or you took people, like I did, who had worked on stage in New York. Those actors were not from the kind of sit-com acting – now it’s very hard to get them out of that kind of attitude; in those days finding people that had done theatre like Richard Gere and Martin Sheen gave us an advantage, because you had people that had learned to create a role from beginning to end. In New York there was a much smaller group of actors, which included Al Pacino, Robert De Niro and everybody knew everybody. When I asked Martin Sheen to audition for Badlands, at the beginning he said, ‘It’s not for me, but I know somebody else that might be good.’ Actors didn’t do that in Los Angeles, it’s a New York kind of thing related to theatre, everybody was very generous helping their friends out. It was a very different kind of environment, it’s where I come from, and that’s how I like to work.


IRVIN KERSHNER


Every actor and every director has a signature, just like every composer has; I can hear a composition, turn it on in the middle and, listening to the chord structure, I can almost tell you who the composer was, if it’s a composition of Sibelius, Stravinsky, Prokofiev. When I used to teach at the University of Southern California and George Lucas was one of my students, I would go down to the archives and take a can of film, 900 feet or so, in the middle of a film and bring it up and project nine minutes, and I would say, ‘Okay, write the story that came before and then write the story that came after, fill in the film and use this as the first act, second act or something else.’ It was a good way to learn to construct a story, and I began to see the signature of the good directors, and it’s there like with the good composers, with their chord structure. Every director who develops a style has a signature. The signature is how you move the camera and how you move the people. Terry moves the camera in a very limited way, which is good; he moves it not for dramatic effect, but to merely keep the action in the frame; he puts the lens in the one place where it should be in the scene. There is always one place that’s best in a scene. You gotta find that – it’s a sort of sweet spot. And he can stage for that and he moves the camera for that. Buñuel is a good example: he only moves his camera to keep the action going. So, Terry has a signature and only good directors have a signature – and that’s another thing that you can see from his first movie, Badlands.


JACOB BRACKMAN


Terry knew a lot about cinema but I think he was not a cinephile, compared to Bogdanovich who was such a student of film, had studied and indeed written monographs about the films of John Ford, Howard Hawks and studied the even more obscure directors like Douglas Sirk. Terry was a well-educated liberal arts person, but he was not ‘fanatic’ about film like the French Nouvelle Vague people, the Cahiers du Cinéma people, who had studied American films. Terry kind of made it up as he went along, and, in a way, he was doing this without having the kind of background that film students who get to make movies have. He used to say he couldn’t shoot an episode of Kojak, the TV series, because he wasn’t interested in knowing how to cover a scene. So he developed his own style, I would say mostly in the cutting room on Badlands and also the way he figured out how to work with voice-over. These were things that he didn’t learn from anyone else, he kind of invented them. He was not an artistic type necessarily. I knew people in our class who arrive in Harvard at eighteen, and think they’re ‘artists’ – many think they are going to become great artists, or are going to be writers like Joyce or Proust! Terry was not like that at all, he was a humble student. So, as an undergraduate, and in those first years of trying to be a journalist and testing academia and so on, Terry was not so arrogant as to think he could also become an artist. It probably wasn’t until people told him he was one, after Badlands, that he started to think that maybe he could become one!


ARTHUR PENN


If you make a film for the studios it’s a very different experience and not very interesting because there are too many people who interfere. Everybody knows how to make a movie! Everybody! You ask anybody on the street, ‘Was it a good movie?’ ‘No, it was not a good movie! Here’s what I would have done!’ and they tell you how they would make the movie. So, Terry didn’t want that. He knew we didn’t have trouble on Bonnie and Clyde with the studio while we were making it. We had bad trouble trying to distribute the film. So Terry knew a lot about our experience. And he was very wise: he knew, as we know today, that with a really small amount of money and a very simple little story we could go out and make a very good film. And that’s exactly what happened. Terry was free to make Badlands the way he wanted to make it. We always used to have fun together. There is a scene in Bonnie and Clyde where the protagonists pull into a little gas station and they meet Michael Pollard. The car doesn’t work and he just blows on the engine, and they say, ‘What was wrong with the car?’ because now it starts. And he goes, ‘Dirt!’ That was a line we used to say all the time: ‘Dirt!’ That’s the way Terry would think of a film. Which is: you go in and you make it, you just make it.







Notes


1 Paul Johannes Tillich was born in 1886 in Starzeddel, Prussia, now Brandenburg, Germany. In 1911 he received his doctorate in philosophy from the University of Breslan. A year later he received his theology certificate as a pastor within the Protestant Church. After he served in the German army as a chaplain (1914–1918) he was Privatdozent of theology at the University of Berlin and full professor of philosophy at Frankfurt am Main. During the 1920s he wrote a number of impressive works on both theology and philosophy. In 1933 Tillich was removed from his teaching post. Tillich was one of the earliest non-Jewish people to be targeted by the Third Reich. He had openly opposed Hitler’s rise to power, and he moved to the United States of America, where he became a naturalized citizen in 1940. Teaching theology at Union Theological Seminary, New York, Tillich served as a bridge between Continental philosophers and the analytic traditions of American philosophy. In 1955 he retired, but he decided to assume a professorship at Harvard, where he taught until 1962. He died in 1965.


2 Paul Lee was born in 1932 in Colorado. He obtained his Bachelor of Sacred Theology at Harvard Divinity School. Then he obtained a PhD at Harvard University, where he was Paul Tillich’s assistant and teaching assistant in Humanities courses until 1962. He subsequently moved to MIT and the University of California. He was also a pastor in ‘Our Saviour’s Lutheran Church’ in East Boston from 1956 to 1961.


3 Adams House is one of the twelve undergraduate houses at Harvard University, located between Harvard Square and the Charles river in Cambridge, Massachusetts. It was named to commemorate John Adams, the second president of the United States, and John Quincy Adams, the sixth. Adams is often regarded as Harvard’s most representative house.


4 Last Year at Marienbad (original title: L’Année dernière à Marienbad, 1961), directed by Alain Resnais.


5 William Alfred, born in 1922 in New York, started his career as a professor at Harvard in 1963, becoming a campus legend. He spent his time teaching, writing, associating with colleagues and mentoring multitudes of students. He was a point of reference for many students, who sent him manuscripts, plays, poems and novels. As a playwright and poet he won a number of prizes and he was acclaimed both in academia and in theatre. He died in Cambridge at the age of 76.


6 Born in Boston in 1917, in 1950 Robert Lowell was included in the influential anthology Mid-Century American Poets as one of the key literary figures of his generation. His book of poems Lord Weary’s Castle won the Pulitzer Prize in 1946. Another acclaimed book of poems, Life Studies, was published in 1959. He won his second Pulitzer Prize for The Dolphin in 1974. He died in 1977 in New York.


7 Hogan’s Goat, directed by Glenn Jordan, was aired on television in 1971. William Alfred wrote the play for the theatre and the screenplay for television.


8 The Phi Beta Kappa Society is an academic honour society with the mission of fostering and recognizing excellence in the undergraduate liberal arts and sciences. It was founded in 1776 at the College of William and Mary. Phi Beta Kappa is the first collegiate organization to use a Greek-letter name. ФВК stands for Фιλοσοφία Вιου Kυβερνήτης or philosophia biou kubernetes – ‘Love of learning is the guide of life’. Since its founding very few undergraduates have received the honours. Others include Henry Kissinger (Harvard, 1950), Susan Sontag (Chicago, 1951), Francis Ford Coppola (Hofstra, 1959) and Michael Crichton (Harvard, 1954).


9 The Rhodes Scholarship is funded by the Cecil John Rhodes estate. Cecil John Rhodes was an English-born businessman, mining magnate and politician in South Africa, who died in 1902. The scholarship was the first large-scale programme of international scholarship. A Rhodes Scholar may study postgraduate courses in Oxford University – whether a taught Master’s programme, a research degree, or a second undergraduate degree (senior status).


10 Hubert Lederer Dreyfus, born in 1929 in Terre Haute, Indiana, earned three degrees from Harvard University (BA in 1951, MA in 1952, PhD in 1964). He is considered a leading interpreter of the work of Edmund Husserl, Michel Foucault, Maurice Merleau-Ponty, and especially Martin Heidegger. His publication Being in the World: A Commentary on Heidegger’s Being and Time Division 1 (Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1991) is considered to be one of the most authoritative texts on Heidegger in the United States.


11 Jules Régis Debray was born in France in 1940. He is a professor, a French government official, intellectual and journalist. After having studied at the École Normale Supérieure under Louis Althusser he graduated in philosophy in the late 1960s, and started teaching philosophy at the University of Havana in Cuba. Subsequently he became an associate of Che Guevara in Bolivia. Before Che Guevara was captured in Bolivia in 1967, Debray was imprisoned, convicted of having been part of Guevara’s guerrilla group and was sentenced to 30 years in prison. In 1970 he was released after an international campaign supported by, among others, Pope Paul VI, André Malraux, Général De Gaulle and Jean-Paul Sartre. He moved to Chile, where he wrote The Chilean Revolution (1972) after interviews with Salvador Allende. In 1973 he returned to France after the rise to power of General Pinochet. His book Revolution in the Revolution?, written during his association with Che Guevara, was considered among armed socialist movements in Latin American as a handbook for guerrilla warfare that supplemented Guevara’s manual.


12 William Shawn was born in Chicago in 1907 and died in 1992. He began to work at The New Yorker in 1933. He became the editor of the magazine in 1952 and held this position until 1987. For some critics he is considered to be one of the most prominent magazine editors in the world. He published the stories and novels of J. D. Salinger and Truman Capote’s true-crime classic In Cold Blood. He also published a number of distinguished writers including Hannah Arendt, Milan Kundera and Philip Roth. He was driven by a sincere love for new writing. He called himself and signed simply ‘Shawn’, so for everybody he was ‘Mr Shawn’. He was a shy, formal man and he seldom talked about himself. He gave almost no interviews and almost never let himself be photographed. He never gave a public speech.


13 The Graduate (1967), directed by Mike Nichols, starring Dustin Hoffman and Anne Bancroft.


14 Caleb Deschanel, born in Philadelphia in 1944, attended the University of Southern California’s School of Cinema-television and then the AFI Conservatory. As a cinematographer he has worked on a number of films including A Woman Under the Influence (1974, directed by John Cassavetes), The Black Stallion (1979, directed by Carroll Ballard), Being There (1979, directed by Hal Ashby), The Right Stuff (1983, directed by Philip Kaufman), The Natural (1984, directed by Barry Levinson), Fly Away Home (1996, directed by Carroll Ballard) and The Passion of the Christ (2004, directed by Mel Gibson). He has been nominated for five Academy Awards, and directed three episodes of the David Lynch series Twin Peaks.


15 Thomas Rickman, born in Kentucky, has written several screenplays for cinema and television. He was nominated for an Academy Award for his adaptation of the biographical book Coal Miner’s Daughter by Loretta Lynn. The film, directed by Michael Apted and released in 1980, won an Oscar for the brilliant performance of Sissy Spacek. Rickman is also a director.


16 Tony Vellani has become a very important teacher for many AFI students. He was also involved, along with George Stevens, Jr, in the production of student films financed by AFI. Among these is David Lynch’s The Grandmother (1970).


17 Gunga Din (1939), directed by George Stevens and starring Cary Grant, narrates the story of Gunga Din, a young man born in British India, divided between his love for the Indian people and admiration for the British Army during the Thuggee rebellion that took place in India in 1830. The story was based on a poem by Rudyard Kipling.


18 Two-Lane Blacktop (1971), directed by Monte Hellman, in the end was written by Rudy Wurlitzer, a friend of Terrence Malick who suggested Sam Shepard for Malick’s second film Days of Heaven. The film also starred Warren Oates, who appeared in Malick’s first film Badlands.


19 Deadhead Miles (1972), directed by Vernon Zimmerman, narrates the story of a long-distance trucker and his experiences on the road. The film starred Alan Arkin.


20 Pocket Money (1972) was directed by Stuart Rosenberg. The film shows an honest cowboy, Paul Newman, who ends up mixing up with a crooked rancher, Lee Marvin. The script was based on the novel written by J. P. S. Brown, Jim Kane.


21 Dirty Harry (1971), directed by Don Siegel, starring Clint Eastwood.


22 Great Balls of Fire! (1989), directed by Jim McBride, starring Dennis Quaid.


23 The King of Marvin Gardens (1972), directed by Bob Rafelson, starring Jack Nicholson.


24 Harry Julian Fink has had a long career as TV scriptwriter. For the film industry he and his wife Rita wrote the Western Big Jake (1971), directed by George Sherman and starring John Wayne. He also wrote Cahill U.S. Marshal (1973), directed by Andrew McLaglen, again starring John Wayne.


25 Bonnie and Clyde (1967), directed by Arthur Penn and starring Warren Beatty and Faye Dunaway.


26 Angels as Hard as They Come (1971), directed by Joe Viola.


27 Paul Williams, born in New York in 1943, directed Out of It (1969), The Revolutionary (1972) and Dealing: Or the Berkeley-to-Boston Forty-Brick Lost-Bag Blues (1972), all of them produced by Edward Pressman. He also acted in several films. His last film as a director is The Best Ever (2002).


28 Terrence Malick has rarely participated in public meetings. He made a few comments about Badlands at the Milanesia in Milan in 2001, which was organized by the Italian critic and thinker Enrico Ghezzi. Malick spoke about his relationship with Kershner at the Festadel cinema di Roma in 2007 which was co-ordinated by the critics Antonio Monda and Mario Sesti.


29 Confidential File is a TV show aired in America from 1953 to 1957. The programme included a studio debate presented by the journalist Paul Coates, followed by a documentary reconstruction shot, photographed and edited by Irvin Kershner. The treated case studies had a strong social angle and especially concerned current affairs, ranging from children’s mental illnesses to religious sects, from the spread of new drugs to the starlets market in Hollywood.


30 Stakeout on Dope Street (1958) tells the story of a group of teenagers who casually find a suitcase full of heroin and decide to enter the drug market, attracting the wrath of other dealers.


31 The Hoodlum Priest (1961) is based on the true story of Rev. Charles Dismas Clark, a Jesuit priest who dedicated his life to working with former convicts in St. Louis.


32 Edward Albee, born in Washington in 1928, was adopted by Reed Albee, the son of Edward Franklin Albee, an American vaudeville producer. He moved to New York in 1948 and ten years later, thanks to his play The Zoo Story (1959), became one of the most distinguished American playwrights. The play was staged in Berlin, sharing the bill with Samuel Beckett’s Krapp’s Last Tape. After that he wrote a number of successful plays, winning three Pulitzer Prizes for A Delicate Balance (1966), Seascape (1975), and Three Tall Women (1994). One of his most popular plays is Who’s Afraid of Virginia Woolf? (1962). Although he was considered as a successor to Arthur Miller, Tennessee Williams and Eugene O’Neill, his plays are closely related to the work of European playwrights such as Harold Pinter and Samuel Beckett.


33 A Fine Madness (1968) is the story of Samson Shillitoe, played by Sean Connery. Samson lives with Rhoda, who is used to his crises and excesses. To get over his emotional block, the woman convinces him to be visited by a psychiatrist. Samson will end up trying to overcome his crises surrounded by adoring women.


34 Who’s Afraid of Virginia Woolf? (1966), directed by Mike Nichols, starring Richard Burton and Liz Taylor.


35 Pillow Talk, a romantic comedy directed in 1959 by Michael Gordon, starring Rock Hudson and Doris Day.


36 Ashes and Diamonds, directed in 1958 (original title: Popiól i diament) by Andrzej Wajda.


37 The Seventh Seal, directed in 1957 (original title: Det sjunde inseglet) by Ingmar Bergman.


38 Easy Rider, directed in 1969 by Dennis Hopper, starring Peter Fonda and Hopper.


39 Five Easy Pieces, directed in 1970 by Bob Rafelson, starring Jack Nicholson.


40 Drive, He Said (1971), directed by Jack Nicholson.


41 Edward Pressman produced Sisters (1973) and Phantom of the Paradise (1974), directed by Brian De Palma.




















Badlands





Badlands was inspired by a tabloid story: a killing spree by one Charles Starkweather who, after killing the parents and the two-year-old sister of his under-aged girlfriend, Caril Ann Fugate, fled with the girl on a blood-tainted honeymoon pursued by the police, committing seven other more or less gratuitous homicides. The Starkweather case caused a sensation in the media, fixing itself in American culture as the first case of random murder, and as a doomed love story.




Holly (voice-over)


My mother died of pneumonia when I was just a kid. My father had kept their wedding cake in the freezer for ten whole years. After the funeral he gave it to the yardman. He tried to act cheerful, but he could never be consoled by the little stranger he found in his house. Then, one day, hoping to begin a new life away from the scene of all his memories, he moved us from Texas to Ft. Dupree, South Dakota.


[…]


Little did I realize that what began in the alleys and back ways of this quiet town would end in the Badlands of Montana.





JACOB BRACKMAN


After Lanton Mills, Terry embarked on Badlands. He had to get it done – he had to. It was so obviously a critical point in his development and the thing that he did of raising the money in dribs and drabs, working on the script and getting it cast – you know, the whole thing is kind of the myth of how somebody becomes a filmmaker, but actually Terry is the only person who ever did it!


Badlands as a debut is compared to Citizen Kane. But at the time that Citizen Kane was made, Orson Welles was a world-famous radio and theatre director, everybody knew of him as a major talent. Whereas with Terry, absolutely nobody knew about him, he had no theatrical history of any kind. In a way, he came completely out of nowhere!


ARTHUR PENN


I don’t remember in detail what we spoke about when I met Terry. It was such an American story, a strangely American story. Two, almost children really, living in that part of the country which is really not very populated, very restricted in terms of outlook, religion and so forth. But it seemed like a compelling story. And it had only a little relationship to Bonnie and Clyde. Bonnie and Clyde were from the same kind of background, only they were very different – they didn’t just go out killing people. They were bank robbers. Many people associated Bonnie and Clyde with Badlands, but the protagonists of my film were living during the Depression, when the banks were closing, when farms were being taken away by the banks. The two protagonists of Badlands are from the ’50s: it’s twenty years later. It was a very different country in the ’50s. We had been through the war, and that generation had come back from the war. It was both tighter and a little bit wilder. I still don’t know the motive for these two people in Badlands. Do you know what made them do it? I think it was the sense of adventure, the sexual freedom that they must have found in it. We have to remember that America is a very sexually repressed country, particularly out in the Far West. And there’s a certain thing about that film which is that once they get the taste of freedom – admittedly it’s freedom to kill people – but it’s also freedom to live without restrictions. And that was unusual in that time.


EDWARD PRESSMAN


I can’t say I imagined the lasting value of Badlands as a film when we started, and the kind of significance Terry’s work would have to many people today. When we started, it was the exciting prospect of doing a film with a filmmaker who seemed talented and with a great, quiet confidence, and a know-how that seemed advanced to me, at the time. He was working with the help of Arthur Penn, George Segal1 and Warren Oates early on, so we were dealing with people whose confidence in Terry was reinforcing my own. These established figures were galvanized by Terry’s vision. I was a newcomer who’s feeling my way, whereas Terry had a maturity even then and was very impressive to me and gave me the confidence to support him. We didn’t go into it thinking this was a masterpiece. This was a movie we believed in, and the relationships and feelings we had shooting it have lasted all these years, just as the film has lasted. It was something that was very special and very rare at the time. I don’t think I realized that, as it was one of the first films I was involved with. For me it was the way filmmaking should be, but in retrospect, I see how unique and extraordinary it really was.


MIKE MEDAVOY


Badlands was mainly a project that Terry and Pressman put together. I had introduced Terry to Max Palevsky,2 who is a close friend of his now; I asked Max to put up some of the money. There was also a script that Terry wrote and was paid for, so he put up some of that money to finance the film. It was probably one of the first independent films. There had probably been other independent films, like One Potato Two Potato,3 but it’s a landmark film in the sense that it was thought of as a really important film, about a really difficult subject.


EDWARD PRESSMAN


I think when we started, the films that we did, we approached it with all innocence as if it was a Broadway play. We raised money through selling shares, $1,000 or $5,000 increments; we used our credit cards and I used my family’s toy company credit with the laboratories and the equipment houses. We owed money, but at least they left us for a time without having to come up with the cash. We were scavenging in the most primitive way: Terry brought in some financing from Max Palevsky and William Weld4 and some other people that he knew. On our side, I think my mother was the biggest help of all. She not only gave the credit of the family business, but also lent me money and was of great support. So it was not systematic by any means, every few weeks we were not sure we could cover the payroll. It was a total bet and we were doing it at the very same time as Brian De Palma’s Phantom of the Paradise, which was also going through difficult financial problems. So it was a great time, but it was economically out there on the edge. I remember while we were shooting, one of the production people who was working on Badlands was very dubious about the whole process because it was such an unorthodox approach to making a film. And he left, went back to New York and told my mother the film was a disaster, that she ought to just stop helping me right then and there, that she was throwing her money away.


ARTHUR PENN


When the film was finished, I remember I was up in California and Terry was showing it to the people who had put up most of the money, and when the film was finished I think they didn’t like it very much. But I said, ‘It’s a great film!’ So, I helped persuade them, I think, that it was a very important film.


EDWARD PRESSMAN


Arthur Penn is a very significant filmmaker, and at that time his offer to lend his name as an executive producer, from my perspective, was very important in giving legitimacy to the production as we tried to raise the financing. It was basically his offer to just lend his imprimatur to the film that was so important at the time; and then later he said, ‘If you don’t want to put my name on it, you can do whatever you want.’ I don’t even think his name was on the film when it came out. It was a real gentlemanly support, but in the early stages his involvement was one of the things that attracted me to the project and I could talk to other people saying that Arthur supported it; it meant a great deal. It also helped that Warren Oates5 came in early on, because he was such an important figure at the time. The films he was doing were right there on the cultural edge. When the film was completed, the plan was to show it to the likely distributors, which were the Studios. The key people that we wanted to show the film to were alerted by different friends that we knew, and we set up screenings for the ones who were the most receptive. There was a company named Cinema V run by Don Rugoff6 who owned some theatres in New York; he was a stalwart of the independent movement and a sort of forerunner of Miramax. They distributed Z, the Costa-Gavras film, and the early Milos Forman film The Fireman’s Ball. He wanted to buy the film, but then we showed the film to Warner Bros and John Kelly, who was running the studio, immediately responded. So there was a bidding war between those two companies. I can’t remember any other company wanting to do it, but I think Warners paid $1 million, which at the time was unprecedented in terms of independent films getting such an advance distribution. We went with them and Rugoff was very unhappy. At the beginning everyone worked for very, very little with the hope that if the film succeeded they would get more. We had deferred payments, and all the deferments were paid when the deal was done with Warners. I remember Warren Oates, who did more than fifty movies, some of them great successes, said, ‘This is the first time I got my deferment paid on a film that was not a huge success, but that was done for so little.’




 





The main characters of the film are Kit Carruthers and Holly Sargis, based on Charles Starkweather and Caril Ann Fugate. But the script, even though it essentially represents the various stages of the killings and the escape of the two, is not just a simple retelling of the story in film form. Badlands explores the emotional tension between the odd innocence of their love affair and the homicidal violence of their fugitive journey.


For this reason, Malick preferred actors who were not only ready to follow him in the challenge of producing an independent film, but also to test themselves in a journey of discovery into the mentality of the characters. For the role of Holly, Sissy Spacek was soon chosen, a young twenty-two-year-old actress who at the time had only played in a couple of films.7 There were many candidates initially for the male lead, but the meeting with Martin Sheen was decisive. In the end the role was his, even if at the time he was over thirty and had to play the boyfriend of a girl who in the script was little more than an adolescent. The script was changed to fit the characteristics of Sheen and his age.


DIANNE CRITTENDEN


My cousin Dona8 was working for Terry. She was working as his assistant on Badlands, and she wasn’t getting paid. So I said to her, ‘You cannot work on a movie where you don’t get paid!’ And she replied, ‘Well, I don’t know how to say that!’ I had been working as a casting director for about three years at that time, that is why I felt secure enough to say to her, ‘Well, I will come and tell him.’ And the next thing is I got hired and started working for him as casting director – with no pay too!


Both of us eventually got paid, but at that time he didn’t have the financing, so …


Terry is such an interesting man and the script was so wonderful that I just thought I had to be a part of this!


The first one cast was Sissy Spacek. She is somebody that Terry found or heard about in Texas – he wanted both of them to be authentic Texans. Obviously, Martin is not a Texan, but Sissy is and had the accent. You know, when most people become actors they eliminate their accent, but Sissy had it and she just had all the right qualities: naive and ingenuous; and somebody who could, you know, sit there with someone who had just murdered her father and be reading magazines about movie stars … 


SISSY SPACEK


I don’t think I had even read the script when I met with Terry. It was in a wonderful house somewhere in Hollywood. I think it was a friend’s house he was just using, an old Spanish house with no furniture. He had a couple of chairs and a couch, I think, and a coffee table, and that was the extent of the furniture. He kept telling me about this art director, Jack Fisk, who was working on his film and he’d tell me the things they were going to do. They were going to do opticals, they were going to get midget farmers – all kind of crazy ideas. And he would have lines written down on little rolled-up pieces of paper and he’d hand it to me and say, ‘Say that line,’ and I’d roll out this little tiny piece of paper and read the line and he would just dissolve into hysterics and laughter. I think at that time he didn’t know what I did before as an actress, I’d made a couple of meaningless films. I think I’d made two films but they were inconsequential. I think my ace in the hole was that I was from Texas. It was a little bit like with Jack, it was just an instant thing, an instant connection between us and it still is. You know, when you’re from Texas, it’s like being a member of a very exclusive club; we spoke the same language, and I think that Terry was enchanted by my accent which was, believe it or not, heavier than now. Terry is very connected to his roots, as am I. He used my background in the film; in fact, Martin said, ‘What’s a little girl from Texas like you doing here?’ I also remember going with Terry to a music store in Hollywood Blvd to get a Starline baton, twirling for him in his front yard. So as I was getting new pages for the script, Holly became a strawberry blonde who twirled. It was wonderful because he began to take things from me, he really made me feel like I was part of the process. I thought the character was me. Terry had a way of making me feel like … You know, I walked in the door and I was Holly. And so, instead of me asking him what Holly was like, he was asking me questions: ‘What do you think about this?’, ‘How do you think Holly would do this?’ and so, right away, he gave me ownership of the character. I don’t think that at that time of my career I even really thought about it. I trusted Terry, it was like I was the raw product and he was the puppeteer. I trusted him so much and our connection was so instant that I never worried about or thought about it much, she just was. And really, I was cast before Martin and so I was meeting all the hot young actors in Hollywood and there were quite a few of them who were wonderful.


DIANNE CRITTENDEN


Badlands was based upon the story of Charles Starkweather who was a real person, and so I know that Terry did a lot of research before he even started it, and then I did my own research. You know everybody said: he was like the boy next door, he was very charming, he was a good son, he went to church, and nobody believed that he could become a killer. So in the casting I was looking for a person who you would never believe could kill anybody.


The choice of Martin Sheen was another accident. I was waiting for an actor to arrive. I was working out of a hotel and I was standing by the window looking for the actor when I saw Martin Sheen walk by and I had seen him in a play, Tennessee Williams’s The Rose Tattoo, in New York before I came to California. And so I ran outside and asked him if he could come in and talk to me while I was waiting for the other actor and – very much like I decided to work on the film with no compensation – he said to me, ‘Well, you know it’s all very nice but I am not really interested in doing an independent movie because you don’t get paid and they never get released …’ So I said, ‘But this is so good, why don’t you just take these couple of pages of the script and have a look at it?’ He replied, ‘Well, maybe I might have some friend or my brother might be interested …’ So he took it with him and then about a half-hour later he came back and he knocked on the door and said, ‘I wanna do this – this is really good!’ So that is what happened and that’s how he came in.


MARTIN SHEEN


I had gone to a hotel over in Hollywood one day, many years ago, to do a commercial, or to read for a clothing commercial, and as I was leaving the production there, Dianne Crittenden stopped me coming out of the hotel and said that she was casting a film by an unknown director, a first-time director, and she wanted me to do a little video to show to him. And she said that he knew of me, but didn’t think I was right for the part and that she wanted to surprise him by showing him the video, and see if she could change his mind. I said, ‘Of course, I’ll do it.’ And so I came back in the hotel, she gave me a couple of scenes, I studied them, and we did a little video and I talked into the camera, and I forgot all about it. Some weeks later I got a call from this guy, Terrence Malick, saying that he looked at this video and he was having second thoughts about me and could I come in and meet him and talk about the film, and I said, ‘Of course.’ And so I went to meet with him, and I liked him instantly. We talked about everything: family, career, art, literature. It was fascinating to be with him because he had this broad experience in life: he had been a still photographer, he had been a professor, he was a Rhodes scholar, he had studied in England, he was teaching at MIT, he was a reporter for The New Yorker, and he was still young, younger than I, he was still in his mid-twenties when I met him. He had this whole background, he seemed to change careers every couple of years, and he had this incredible education. But he wasn’t just an intellectual, he was deeply involved with his knowledge, you know, he took education very seriously. Formal education to him was just the beginning, life was what really interested him.


SISSY SPACEK


I remember Terry, before the audition, thought that Martin was much too old to play Kit, but just as a courtesy he was going to meet him again. And he said to me, ‘You know, he’s much too old. So we’ll just go through the scene and put him on tape like we are doing everyone else. But he’s too old.’


MARTIN SHEEN


He wouldn’t give me the script, but we talked a lot about it and about acting and filmmaking, and so forth. And he asked me to come again, and again and again. I can’t remember how many times I would come and do little videos, where I would do a little scene or two. And then, one day I went there and I met Sissy Spacek. She had already been cast as the little girl, and we became friends. And we started doing audition scenes together on the little video that he had in his home, somewhere up in the Hollywood hills.


DIANNE CRITTENDEN


Making casting choices has always been very hard on Terry.


There were many people who wanted to do Badlands. Peter Fonda was one of the people. One person I remember I thought was really good who wanted to do it was Don Johnson. I think we talked about anyone who was an up-and-coming actor at the time …


There were a lot of people that I had met when I was doing commercials with Howard Zieff,9 when I was in New York. So, as I said, I knew all these people from theatre, and I met people like Robert De Niro and Richard Dreyfuss and people that, at that time, nobody knew who they were, because they had only done theatre in New York – obviously, they then went on to do other things. So I brought in people to meet Terry, people like that who I knew and who I knew were very good actors. But Terry really was not really comfortable with the audition process … and he would meet people and he just thought everybody was great.


Howard Zieff did the very first commercial for Sony video, when video became personal video; previously, there were huge machines, and you had separate camera and reel-to-reel machines. But Howard had the very first Sony personal video recorder in the United States because he got the prototype to use to make commercials for it before it was even in the stores. That is how I learned to use video – I was the first casting director ever to use video to audition people. And when Terry couldn’t make up his mind and just kept falling in love with people and not being able to figure out what to do, I suggested that I get one of these video recorders and put it into a room somewhere and I would audition the actors. So that was how it happened with Martin Sheen – he came in and read that scene and it was on videotape. Otherwise, Terry would probably not have met him because if he hadn’t auditioned he wouldn’t have done this whole thing of flicking his hair back to make himself look like James Dean. When the movie took place every boy wanted to be like James Dean – that was the idea, the character would be like a James Dean character. So if we hadn’t done that with the video, I don’t know that Terry would have been able to see Marty in that role: he thought he was too old.


SISSY SPACEK


Martin came in and he was Kit. I had been playing this scene with all these different actors and they were just terrific and wonderful, but when Martin came in it was just alive, he just blew us away. And when he left, I remember, we were all kind of … because you know, we had this talk before he came in that he was too old. Well, at that point we were all just desperate to have him. He was amazing and that’s really when everything began.


MARTIN SHEEN


Finally one day, he sent me the script and he said, ‘I want you to know what the project is all about.’ So I read the script and I was so impressed, but I felt pangs of conscience, because in the script the boy was nineteen. I’m already thirty-one. But he said, ‘I know that you’re too old, but I’m thinking of making the part a bit older, if I go with you,’ and he said, ‘It’s down to you and another fellow.’ I didn’t realize at that time who the other fellow was, but he was Peter Fonda. I learned that years later, and so, I’m sorry about that, Peter. And then I remember the night that I got the part, it was just a deeply emotional moment. I was doing an episodic show called Mannix – Mannix was a popular TV series – and my wife called me at the studio and she said, ‘Terry called and asked if you will drop by the house and pick up the new version of the script.’ I said, ‘Oh my. Okay.’ So I finished shooting in the evening and I went to his home and he gave me the final draft of the script and we talked for just a very short time. He said, ‘Please, read this. I think I’ve got to make up my mind real soon and I want you to have the script.’ I said, ‘Okay,’ and I kind of forgot about it. I put it in the car, you know, and by the time I got home he called. When I walked in the door, my wife Janet said, ‘You got the part in Badlands.’ And I said, ‘Oh my! Okay.’ And I went to bed early, because I had to wake up at 5 o’clock in the morning. And I wasn’t able to focus on it because I had to work the next day, and I was thinking of my lines, and the scenes I had to do the next day. The day after I threw the script in the car – 5 o’clock in the morning, still dark outside – and I’m driving to work, and I’m driving along the Pacific Coast Highway, and the sun is coming up … and I’m listening to Bob Dylan on the radio, and they’re playing ‘Desolation Row’ from one of his early albums, and it hit me, that I was going to play Kit, in Badlands. And it was the most extraordinary thing that had ever happened in my career. And I began to weep, with joy … And I had to pull off the highway, and stop. I sat in the car, I’m choked up now thinking about it, and I wept with joy that I felt, finally, I was going to be realized as an actor.




 





In the film, Kit’s character is that of a lonely youngster who works as a garbage-man and fantasizes about himself as a sort of misunderstood ‘rebel without a cause’.




Holly (voice-over)


Kit made a solemn vow that he would always stand beside me and let nothing come between us. He wrote this out in writing, put the paper in a box with some of our little tokens and things, then sent it off in a balloon he’d found while on the garbage route. His heart was filled with longing as he watched it drift off. Something must’ve told him that we’d never live these days of happiness again, that they were gone forever.





JACK FISK


I think Badlands is so lyrical and poetical all the time. I think that to watch a movie about a killer and be sort of enamoured with him and fascinated … the violence is the least important part of the film.


SISSY SPACEK


When Terry showed the film to Caril Ann Fugate, the real historic character, she said the only similarities between Charles Starkweather and Kit Carruthers were that they both were garbage men and wore cowboy boots. So Terry just used that as a springboard to lay it all out. He used them, to hang his storytelling on.


BILLY WEBER (EDITOR)


It’s a story of a serial killer essentially, the Kit character, but the movie doesn’t play on that, does not make him out to be this dark killer. The way Terry dealt with him, it was almost more like a fairy-tale ‘telling’, considering what the character did and how cold-blooded he was in his killing. And yet at the same time he had this strange sense of humour and strange view of life, almost a courteous, well-mannered view of life even though he killed her father and he killed the people that came after him in the wood. But it was Sissy’s voice-over that sort of conveyed that fairy-tale quality of it, especially when she talks about ‘… the men that came after him … they knew what they were asking for, so they deserved to get shot …’, just this perverted view of life that that character had, although it was very close to the real character that it’s based on – who had almost a movie-view of his own life and idolized James Dean.


MARTIN SHEEN


This boy, Kit Carruthers, lived in his head. He had an image of himself that wasn’t at all true; he fancied himself like James Dean. He was very fastidious, he picked up papers and he had an image of everybody that was hopelessly inaccurate. But it was his image of people, and events, and things … So by the end of the film, when he’s finally captured, he builds a monument to the spot where they caught him. He builds it himself, to dedicate the moment, so that it’s not forgotten … in history! It was a bizarre image this guy had of himself. But, in order to play the character, I had to live inside that image, I had to live in that fantasy.


And, so, whenever we were doing a scene, I knew when I got it in that groove, in that zone, I was okay, when I talked in that monotone kind of way, when I played that seriousness, that was obviously an image. Like when he’s talking to the rich man, the owner of the house they have invaded, and he’s saying to him, ‘We’re gonna go now, and we’re gonna take the car, and don’t worry. I won’t let her drive it’ … in other words: ‘You’re safe. Everything is safe with me.’




Holly (voice-over)


Kit was the most trigger happy person I’d ever met. He claimed that as long as you’re playing for keeps and the law is coming at you, it’s considered okay to shoot all witnesses. You had to take the consequences, though, and not whine about it later.





MARTIN SHEEN


One day Terry gave me an image of the gun, he said, ‘Well, you know, Martin, that gun is like a magic wand. You can’t deal with someone, it solves all of your problems … Pah! He’s removed. Problem solved. Think of that gun as a magic wand.’ That was a big image!


So, whenever I had the weapon and I was walking around with it, you would never know what he was going to do! And the excuses that he would use for his behaviour: ‘Well, he just wouldn’t listen to me, he couldn’t understand … so I had to pop him,’ as if, of course, now, you understand why he killed another human being. The bizarre image he had of himself was paramount to the character. If you didn’t get that right, the film wouldn’t work.


SISSY SPACEK


Holly is a little girl and he was incredibly slick and just swept her off her feet. She was thirteen, and he was a smooth operator. He comes by in the garbage truck and he says, ‘What’s a little girl like you doing in a place like this?’ Didn’t he say that? Something like that. I think he was just the first male to ever notice her. She was just so naive she was easily impressed.


GEORGE TIPTON (COMPOSER)


Why would Holly be interested in him? Terry wanted to know, and the best he could come up with was that she hadn’t been presented with very many other choices, there wasn’t another hero guy around, her father was a crummy guy …


MARTIN SHEEN


In his mind Kit had to remove the father, in order to have a place in her life. She was basically his idol, he adored her. But he had to treat her as if she was lucky to be with him. She may not realize it at the time, but as time passes she will realize she was with an historic figure, and this time was the most important time she’ll ever spend. But remember: the story is told through her point of view, she narrates the story. Kit has to fit into that thing, so he had to make a lot of adjustments. He thought she was just a little piss-ant, but he realized that she was quite substantial – he never had a relationship with anyone quite like her – she thought for herself, she could play a musical instrument, she got good grades in the school, she was revered in the community, she had a home, she was grounded. And he wasn’t, he was everything outside her world. But he had to pretend like his world was where he was going to bring her. In fact the reverse was true: he went into her world. But he brought this image of himself in with him.




Holly (voice-over)


Kit knew the end was coming. He wondered if he’d hear the doctor pronounce him dead, or if he’d be able to read what the papers would say about him, the next day, from the other side. He dreaded the idea of being shot down alone, he said, without a girl to scream out his name.





MARTIN SHEEN


Kit had this image, this very, very conservative, insightful, image of himself, in regard to history and events, that he had to be ‘specific’. It was almost as if he had to play this role out – in order to be himself. What he never realized, of course, was that it was his false self. He was playing an image, so he was always ‘on’ and his image was fed by the image of James Dean, but it was a Hollywood image, it was a fantasy, it was false. But he thought, ‘Well, maybe this is what it was like to be James Dean, maybe this is how Jimmy felt about things … But he could never articulate it, and Jimmy’s not here to tell you how he felt about things or show you how he felt about things, so I’ll just assume that personality …’ So that’s what he did. He never got close to himself, because he was a little sod-off cross-eyed punk. He didn’t have a life. But with her … He had the prettiest, brightest girl going and he felt – I think – that as long as he was this great character, she’d be glad to be with him, and she would record his history. Accurately. And he would be revered later, just like James Dean was.


GEORGE STEVENS, JR


Terry and I lived near one another and we talked about Badlands and how the Starkweather character had certain similarities to James Dean and he was interested in what I knew about James Dean. I mean, Jimmy Dean was unique and his tragic death highlighted his uniqueness. He became kind of like an eternal figure in cinema. Clearly Terry and Martin were influenced by Jimmy, so we talked about those things.


SAM SHEPARD
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